First Brief-Supreme Court (Signed Version)

Filed 01-17-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2012AP378-W

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. LORENZO D. KYLES,

Petitioner

v.

WILLIAM POLLARD Warden,

Respondent

RECEIVED

JAN 1 7 2014

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

On Review of the Order of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District I

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONER-PETITIONER

Robert R. Henak State Bar No. 1016803 HENAK LAW OFFICE, S.C. 316 N. Milwaukee St., #535 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (414) 283-9300 Melinda A. Swartz State Bar No. 1001536 LAW OFFICE OF MELINDA SWARTZ LLC 316 N. Milwaukee St., #535 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (414) 270-0660

Counsel for Petitioner-

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Lorenzo D. Kyles is entitled to a hearing on allegations that his attorney's errors in (1) unreasonably failing to file a notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief, (2) failing to remain reasonably available to Kyles during the 20-day period for filing that notice, and (3) unreasonably failing either to advise Kyles that he could seek an extension of time for filing the notice of intent or seeking such an extension when clear that Kyles desired an appeal deprived Kyles of the effective assistance of counsel and his right to a direct appeal.

The Court of Appeals denied Kyles a hearing on his claim, holding that such claims must be raised in the circuit court rather than by a *Knight* Petition in the Court of Appeals.

2. What are the proper vehicle and forum for challenging counsel's unreasonable acts or omissions that result in the failure to commence post-conviction and appellate proceedings on direct appeal as of right in a criminal case.

The Court of Appeals below held that an effective assistance of counsel claim based on counsel's unreasonable failure to commence the direct appeal process must be raised in the circuit court.

Filed 01-17-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 2012AP378-W

STATE OF WISCONSIN ex rel. LORENZO D. KYLES,

Petitioner-Petitioner,

ν.

WILLIAM POLLARD Warden, Waupun Correctional Institution,

Respondent-Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER-PETITIONER

Lorenzo Kyles appeals from the denial of his *pro se* Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, filed in the Court of Appeals pursuant to *State v. Knight*, 168 Wis.2d 509, 484 N.W.2d 540 (1992), challenging his attorney's unreasonable acts and omissions resulting in the failure to commence appellate proceedings by filing a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief pursuant to Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.30(2)(b) and/or filing a motion with the Court of Appeals to extend the time for filing that notice. The Court of Appeals summarily denied this petition without reaching his substantive claims, holding that Kyles must raise those claims in the circuit court (App. 1-4).

STATEMENT OF CASE

On September 30, 2002, Kyles entered a guilty plea to first degree reckless homicide, while armed, Wis. Stats. §§940.02(1) & 939.63(1)(a)2 and, on November 12, 2002, was sentenced to 40 years

imprisonment (Pet:3-4).¹ Kyles then met with his retained attorney, Thomas Flanagan, to discuss the sentence and Kyles' appeal rights. However, a court officer cut off their conversation before Flanagan could fully explain Kyles' appeal rights, the potential costs and benefits of an appeal, or the applicable procedures. On the Notice of Right to Seek Postconviction Relief form, Kyles therefore checked the box "I am undecided about seeking postconviction relief and I know I need to decide and tell my lawyer within 20 days" (Pet:5; Pet. App.E:1; *see* Pet. App.B). The 20-day deadline to file the notice of intent expired on December 2, 2012.

According to the petition and its appended documents, which must be taken as true for purposes of this appeal, *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, J9, 274 Wis.2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433, after his sentencing hearing, Kyles took the following steps to assert his constitutional right to a Rule 809.30 direct appeal, resulting in the following court actions and decisions:

11/15/02	Kyles sent letter to Flanagan, informing him that he wanted to appeal and that he wanted him to file a notice of appeal (Pet:6; Pet. App.E:2)
11/18/02	Kyles placed a collect call to Flanagan to request appeal; however, Flanagan's office refused to accept the call (Pet:6; Pet. App.E:2; Pet. App.F: 4)
11/12 to	Kyles' mother called Flanagan's office and left him
11/20/02	a message that Kyles wanted to appeal his case (Pet:5; Pet. App.D:1)
11/20/02	Kyles contacted his mother to see if she informed
	Flanagan that he decided to appeal; she told him she
	was unable to reach Flanagan and Flanagan had not

References to Kyles' *Knight* Petition will be to "Pet:" followed by the page number. References to the appendix to the Petition will be to "Pet. App." followed by the item's letter and page number, if applicable.

returned her call; Kyles asked his mother to keep trying to contact Flanagan because he wanted to appeal (Pet:6; Pet. App.D:1; Pet. App.E:2) After 11/20/02 Kyles' mother called Flanagan's office "a couple of times," was unable to reach him, and left messages that Kyles wanted to appeal (Pet. App.D:1) 11/27/02 Kyles placed a collect call to Flanagan to request appeal; however, Flanagan's office refused to accept call (Pet:6-7; Pet. App.E:2; Pet. App.F:4) 12/02/02 Kyles placed a collect call to Flanagan to request appeal; however, Flanagan's office failed to answer (Pet:7; Pet. App.E:2; Pet. App.F:4) 12/5/02 Kyles wrote to his institution's records office asking for his transcripts (Pet:7; Pet. App.E:2; Pet. App.G:1-2)1/16/03 Kyles placed collect call to Flanagan to request appeal; however, Flanagan's office refused to accept call (Pet:7; Pet. App.E:2; Pet. App.F:4) 1/17/03 Kyles placed collect call to Flanagan to request appeal; however, Flanagan's office refused to accept call (Pet:7; Pet. App,E:2; Pet. App,F:4) 1/24/03During an in-person visit, Kyles told Flanagan he wanted to appeal; Flanagan informed him that the appellate deadlines had expired and that there were few non-frivolous issues for appeal based on his plea (Pet:7; Pet. App.E:2-3; See Pet. App.J:1) 5/14/03 Kyles contacted Legal Assistance for Institutionalized Person program for assistance (Pet:7; Pet. App.E:3; Pet. App.H) 9/6/03 Kyles wrote to Court of Appeals inquiring whether

-3-

Flanagan withdrew (Pet:8; Pet. App.E:3; Pet. App.I)

9/10/03 Court of Appeals informed Kyles that there had been no filings in his case (Pet:8; Pet. App.E:3; Pet. App.I)

Before 10/10/03 Kyles filed a complaint with Office of Lawyer Regulation, including an allegation that Flanagan failed to timely file notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief (Pet:8; Pet. App.E:3; See Pet. App.J:1)

10/14/03 Kyles filed a *pro se* Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus seeking reinstatement of his direct appeal rights in the Wisconsin Court of Appeals (Pet:8; Pet. App.E:3; Pet. App.K)

1/28/04 Court of Appeals issued order dismissing Kyles' petition and indicating that this claim should be raised in the trial court by either a Wis. Stat. §974.06 motion or a writ of habeas corpus (Pet. 8-9; Pet. App.L; App. 11-12)

2/13/04

3/10/04

Kyles filed a *pro se* habeas petition seeking reinstatement of his direct appeal deadlines in Milwaukee County Circuit Court. The petition alleged, *inter alia* that he had written to Flanagan within the 20-day period for filing the notice of intent but that Flanagan did not respond. (Pet:8-9; Pet. App.E:3; Pet. App.M)

Circuit court issued order construing Kyles' petition as Wis. Stat. §974.06 motion and denying it *ex parte* on the grounds that Kyles did not attach a copy of the letter and did not specifically allege that he had asked Flanagan to file the notice of intent within the 20-day deadline. The court stated that it would reconsider its decision if Kyles could produce a copy of the letter. (Pet:9; Pet. App.N; App. 9-10)

3/19/04	Kyles filed notice of appeal (Pet:9; Pet. App.E:3)
4/26/04	Kyles filed <i>pro se</i> motion for production of tran- scripts in the circuit court (Pet:9; Pet. App.E:3; Pet. App.Q)
12/15/04	Court of Appeals issued decision and order affirming circuit court's habeas/§974.06 order, reasoning that Kyles had not specifically alleged that he told Flanagan that he wanted to pursue post-conviction relief (Pet:9; Pet. App.O; App. 6-8)
1/10/05	Kyles filed <i>pro se</i> petition for review regarding the circuit court's habeas/§974.06 order (Pet:9; Pet. App.E:3)
2/9/05	Petition for review denied (Pet:9; Pet. App.P)
4/5/05	Kyles filed <i>pro se</i> federal habeas petition pursuant to 28 U.S.C § 2254 in the U.S. District Court, arguing, among other things that he was denied his right to appeal his conviction (Pet:9; Pet. App.E:3; Pet. App.R:1-3)
2/12/08	U.S. Magistrate Judge denied Kyles' petition as untimely (Pet:9; Pet. App.R)
3/11/08	Kyles filed <i>pro se</i> federal appeal (Pet. 9; Pet. App.E:3; Pet. App.S:1)
3/17/08	U.S. Magistrate Judge granted <i>in forma pauperis</i> status but denied certificate of appealability. (Pet:9; Pet. App.S)
6/10/08	Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals denied Kyles' certificate of appealability (Pet:9; Pet. App.T)
10/20/08	U.S. Supreme Court denied Kyles' <i>pro se certiorari</i> petition (Pet:9; Pet. App.U)

-5-

12/3/08	Kyles filed <i>pro se</i> motion to extend deadline for filing notice of intent to pursue post conviction relief in Court of Appeals pursuant to Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.82(2) (Pet:10; Pet. App.V)
1/16/09	Court of Appeals denied extension motion (Pet:10; Pet. App.W)
Before 9/28/10	Kyles requested that State Public Defender ("SPD") appoint counsel for him on his <i>Knight</i> claim (<i>See</i> Pet. App.X)
Before 9/28/10	SPD declined to appoint counsel for Kyles (See Pet. App.X)
9/22/10	Kyles wrote to Attorney Robert Henak requesting legal assistance (Pet. App.Y)
9/28/10	Kyles asked SPD to reconsider denial of appointed counsel (Pet. App.X)
10/4/10	Henak responded, advising that <i>Knight</i> Petition is appropriate procedure for raising abandonment of counsel (Pet. App.Y)
10/12/10	SPD again denied appointment of counsel (Pet. App.X)
1/16/11	Kyles wrote Legal Action of Wisconsin requesting assistance with habeas petition (Pet. App.Z)
1/25/11	Legal Action responded that it was unable to assist him (Pet. App.Z)
Prior to 3/9/11	Kyles wrote to Attorney Benbow Cheeseman seeking representation (See Pet. App.AA)
3/9/11	Cheeseman responded that he was unable to represent Kyles (Pet. App.AA)

2/17/12

5/9/12

Kyles filed this pro se Knight Petition in the Court of Appeals seeking reinstatement of the deadline to file a notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief. Kyles alleged that he was denied his rights to a direct appeal and to appellate counsel when Flanagan abandoned him after the sentencing hearing. Kyles asserted that Flanagan's acts and omissions constituted ineffective assistance of counsel when: 1) he failed to file a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief despite Kyles' letter and his mother's phone messages that he wanted to appeal; 2) failed to remain reasonably available to Kyles during the 20-day period after his sentencing hearing to consult with him about appealing when Flanagan failed to accept multiple collect calls from Kyles or respond to his letter or his mother's phone calls; and 3) after learning, only six weeks after the deadline expired, that Kyles wanted to appeal, unreasonably failed to file a motion to extend the deadline for filing a notice of intent or to advise Kyles of that option.

Court of Appeals issued *ex parte* opinion and decision denying the *Knight* Petition, again reasoning that Kyles' claims must be raised in the circuit court (App. 1-4).

5/29/12 Kyles filed motion for reconsideration in the Court of Appeals.

6/14/12 Court of Appeals issued order denying reconsideration (App. 5)

On July 16, 2012, this Court deemed the motion for reconsideration to be a timely petition for review. On December 17, 2013, this court granted the petition for review and appointed undersigned counsel to represent Kyles.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no dispute that a defendant is entitled to some process for raising a claim that his or her attorney's deficient performance regarding the filing of a notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief deprived them of an appeal. *E.g.*, *State v. Knight*, 168 Wis.2d 509, 484 N.W.2d 540 (1992).

Moreover, Kyles is entitled to a hearing and decision on the merits of his ineffectiveness claim. His Knight Petition sets forth the who, what, when, where, why, and how of his attorney's abandonment of him on any of three grounds. First, Flanagan failed to file the notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief after Kyles had notified him that he wished to appeal (both by letter and through his mother's phone messages) before expiration of the deadline for filing that notice. Second, Flanagan failed to keep himself reasonably available to consult with Kyles about the decision to appeal after their post-sentencing consultation was prematurely aborted by the court officer, and Flanagan failed to accept or timely respond to the multiple calls by Kyles and his mother during the 20-day period for filing the notice of intent. And third, even when he finally got around to meeting with his client less than two months after the notice of intent was due and after Kyles told him face-to-face of his desire to appeal, Flanagan merely advised Kyles that the time for doing so had expired, and unreasonably failed either to advise Kyles of the ability to seek an extension of time to file the notice or to in fact file a motion for such an extension.

Kyles' entitlement to a hearing on his claims is not diminished by the fact that he previously took actions, while involuntarily deprived of his right to counsel, seeking to reinstate his rights to direct appeal and the assistance of counsel. *E.g.*, *Murray v. Carrier*, 477 U.S. 478, 488 (1986); *Betts v. Litscher*, 241 F.3d 594, 596-97 (7th Cir. 2001).

The real issue before this Court is the question of what process must be used to challenge counsel's unreasonable acts or omissions that, as here, result in the failure to file the notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief that is necessary to initiate post-conviction and appellate proceedings under Wis. Stat. §974.02 and (Rule) 809.30. The court below held that Kyles must raise his claim in the circuit court under Wis. Stat. §974.06 (App. 1-4). The state acknowledges that §974.06 is *not* appropriate, but posits that a circuit court habeas petition is better than a *Knight* Petition in the Court of Appeals. Response to Petition for Review ("Pet. Rev. Response") at 9 n.4.

While the specific forum does not change Kyles' own entitlement to a hearing and decision on the merits of his claim, the only appropriate process and forum is a *Knight* Petition in the Court of Appeals. Only that Court has the authority under state law to grant the required relief of reinstating Kyles' direct appeal rights. *See Knight*, 168 Wis.2d at 519-20.

ARGUMENT

I.

BECAUSE THE ALLEGATIONS OF KYLES' KNIGHT PETITION ESTABLISH HIS RIGHT TO THE RELIEF REQUESTED, HE IS ENTITLED TO A HEARING AND DECISION ON THE MERITS OF HIS INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIM

Although Kyles had a fundamental right to the assistance of counsel on his one direct appeal as of right, he did not receive the effective assistance of such counsel because Flanagan unreasonably abandoned him without complying with Kyles' timely requests to initiate the appeal process by filing a notice of intent to pursue post-conviction relief under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.30(2), without responding to the phone calls of Kyles and his mother, and without either advising Kyles of his right to seek extension of the time for filing the notice of intent or filing such an extension request when he learned, less than two months after expiration of the deadline, that Kyles had desired an appeal all along. As a consequence, Kyles lost his right to post-conviction motions and a direct appeal.

Given the basis for Kyles' claims, an evidentiary hearing is mandatory so Attorney Flanagan can explain his actions. *See State v. Machner*, 92 Wis.2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979). Because the allegations of Kyles' *Knight* Petition set forth non-conclusory facts that, if true, would entitle him to relief, he is entitled to a hearing and decision on the merits of those claims. *E.g.*, *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶9, 274 Wis.2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433; *see State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶26, 284 Wis.2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62. The adequacy of a pleading is reviewed *de novo*. *Id*.

A. Kyles Was Denied the Effective Assistance of Counsel on Appeal

1. Applicable legal standards

A criminal defendant is constitutionally entitled both to a direct appeal from his conviction or sentence and to the effective assistance of counsel on his first appeal as of right in the state courts, *Douglas v. California*, 372 U.S. 353 (1963); *Evitts v. Lucey*, 469 U.S. 387 (1985). The right to counsel is intended to help protect a defendant's rights because he cannot be expected to do so himself. *E.g.*, *Evitts*, 469 U.S. at 396 ("An unrepresented appellant--like an unrepresented defendant at trial--is unable to protect the vital interests at stake").

The Supreme Court established the general standard for assessing claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). That test is two-pronged. First, counsel's performance must have been deficient, and second, the deficiency must have prejudiced the defense. *See*, *e.g.*, *id.* at 687. The same standard applies, with appropriate modifications, to claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 477 (2000).

The deficiency prong is met where counsel's representation "fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. In analyzing this issue, the Court "should keep in mind that counsel's function, as elaborated in prevailing professional norms, is to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case." *Id.* at 690: *see Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 384 (1986).

A defendant generally must show that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced his defense. The defendant is not required, however, to show "that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome of the case." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693; *see Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 434 (1995). Rather, the question on review is "whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. If this test is satisfied, relief is required; no supplemental, abstract inquiry into the "fairness" or "reliability" of the proceedings is permissible. *Williams v. Taylor*, 529 U.S. 362 (2000).

However, actual denial of the assistance of counsel altogether is legally presumed to result in prejudice and can never be treated as harmless error. *Penson v. Ohio*, 488 U.S. 75, 88 (1988); *State ex rel. Seibert v. Macht*, 2001 WI 67, J19, 244 Wis.2d 378, 627 N.W.2d 881, *modified on denial of reconsideration*, 2002 WI 12, 249 Wis.2d 702, 639 N.W.2d 707. Counsel's abandonment of a client's appeal, for instance, is a *per se* violation of the right to counsel. *Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. at 483; *Betts v. Litscher*, 241 F.3d 594, 597 (7th Cir. 2001). "Mere speculation that counsel would not have made a difference is no substitute for actual appellate advocacy." *Penson*, 488 U.S. at 87; *see Seibert*, J19.

Moreover, when the right to counsel attaches, as on the direct appeal as of right from a criminal conviction, the state bears the "responsibility to ensure that petitioner was represented by . . . counsel." *Coleman v. Thomson*, 501 U.S. 722, 754 (1991). If the state abdicates that responsibility by improperly denying counsel to a defendant by failing to take the steps necessary to provide a defendant with counsel, or because counsel has abandoned the defendant, any procedural defaults the *pro se* defendant commits properly may be "imputed to the State." *See id.* (quoting *Murray v. Carrier*, 477 U.S.

478, 488 (1986)).

The constitutionally required remedy for the denial of counsel on appeal is to restore the defendant to the position he would have occupied but for the denial. In other words, he must be granted his direct appeal as of right with the assistance of counsel, *Betts*, 241 F.3d at 597; *see Penson*, 488 U.S. at 86-88, an appeal made and judged without regard to any arguments or mistakes the defendant may have made while he lacked the assistance counsel. *Betts*, 241 F.3d at 596, 597.

2. Applicable facts

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