DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF 

APPEALS DENYING A PETITION FOR A WRIT 

OF HABEAS CORPUS 

  

 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

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

Smalley, 211 Wis. 2d at 799; Santana, 288 Wis. 2d 

707, ¶ 4.  Thus, the circuit court could not grant 

Kyles an extension of time to file his notice of 

intent. 

 

 The circuit court could nonetheless provide 

Kyles with a remedy by exercising its inherent 

power to vacate and reinstate his judgment of 

conviction if he proved Flanagan was ineffective.  

See State v. Brockett, 2002 WI App 115, ¶ 14, 254 

Wis. 2d 817, 647 N.W.2d 357 (circuit court has 
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inherent authority under Wis. Stat. § 807.03 to 

vacate or modify an order) (citing State v. Castillo, 

205 Wis. 2d 599, 606, 556 N.W.2d 425 (Ct. App. 

1996)).  Further, a common law petition for a writ 

of habeas corpus is an equitable proceeding 

allowing the court hearing it to tailor a remedy for 

a constitutional violation to the particular facts.  

See State ex rel. Pharm v. Bartow, 2005 WI App 

215, ¶ 12 n.6, 287 Wis. 2d 663, 706 N.W.2d 693 

(citations omitted). 

 

Kyles argues that Wisconsin has “long 

rejected the practice of extending appellate dead-

lines by setting aside one judgment and entering a 

new one” (Kyles’ brief at 29).  While it is true that 

Wisconsin does not allow a circuit court to vacate 

and reenter a judgment simply to allow an appeal 

after the deadline has elapsed, this court has 

recognized  that  it  may  be  appropriate  to  do  so 

for other reasons.  See Edland v. Wisconsin 

Physicians Service Ins. Corp., 210 Wis. 2d 638, 

648, 563 N.W.2d 519 (1997).  Here, assuming that 

Kyles could prove Flanagan ineffectively failed to 

file the notice of intent, it would be appropriate for 

the court to reinstate his judgment of conviction, 

which would give him twenty days to file a notice 

of intent.  Id. at 646 (“vacating an order and 

entering another will invariably start anew the 

time period for appeal”). 

 

 Kyles argues that the exceptions to the 

prohibition against reinstating a judgment to 

allow an appeal fall under Wis. Stat. § 806.07, 

which is not applicable to criminal proceedings 

(Kyles’ brief at 29 (citing State v. Henley, 2010 WI 

97, ¶¶ 67-71, 328 Wis. 2d 544, 787 N.W.2d 350)). 

Habeas corpus is a civil proceeding, State ex rel. 

Hager v. Marten, 226 Wis. 2d 687, 692, 
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594 N.W.2d 791 (1999), and as noted, an equitable 

one that allows a court to craft a remedy 

appropriate to the particular facts.  Further, while 

Edland relied on § 806.07 to hold that reinstating 

an order to allow an appeal is sometimes 

permissible, this does not mean that the court 

does not possess the authority to do so from other 

sources, such as Wis. Stat. § 807.03 or its 

equitable power to craft a remedy in a habeas 

corpus proceeding. 

 

E. While one of Kyles’ claims 

that Flanagan was ineffec-

tive is appropriate for a 

Knight petition, that claim 

is not properly before this 

court. 

In addition to arguing that Flanagan was 

ineffective for not filing the notice of intent when 

told to and not remaining reasonably available 

during the filing period, Kyles also contends that 

Flanagan should have filed a motion for an 

extension of time when Kyles told him at the 

January 2003 meeting in prison that he wanted to 

appeal (Kyles’ brief at 19-20).  He also argues 

Flanagan should have at least told him that an 

extension was possible (Kyles’ brief at 19-20).  

 

 Kyles asserts that this ineffective assistance 

claim belongs in a Knight petition because it 

involves Flanagan’s failure to take action in the 

court of appeals (Kyles’ brief at 27).  The State 

agrees, but urges this court not to address this 

issue because Kyles did not raise it in his petition 

for review. 
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 A defendant may not raise issues in this 

court that were not also presented in the petition 

for review.  See Wis. Stat. § 809.62(6).  The issues 

before  this  court  are  the  issues  in  the  

petition.  See State v. Sprosty, 227 Wis. 2d 316, 

323 n.4, 595 N.W.2d 692 (1999); State v. Weber, 

164 Wis. 2d 788, 789, 476 N.W.2d 867 (1991). 

 

 While Kyles asserted that Flanagan was 

ineffective for the same three reasons he alleges in 

this court in his Knight petition, he did not do so 

in his petition for review (Kyles’s Knight petition 

at 16-19).  Instead, in his petition to this court, 

Kyles focused on Flanagan’s alleged failure to 

remain reasonably available during the time to 

file a notice of intent (Kyles’ petition for review at 

14-18).  His petition also properly raised the issue 

that Flanagan should have filed the notice of 

intent once he learned, either from Kyles’ 

November 2002 letter or Kyles’ mother, that he 

wanted to appeal (Kyles’ petition for review at 14-

18).  But nowhere in the petition is there any 

suggestion that Flanagan should have filed an 

extension motion or told Kyles that it was a 

possibility.  This issue is not before this court, and 

it should decline to address it. 

 

II. KYLES’ KNIGHT PETITION 

IS PROCEDURALLY 

BARRED BY HIS PREVIOUS 

ATTEMPTS TO HAVE HIS 

DIRECT APPEAL REIN-

STATED. 

This court should resolve whether the circuit 

court or the court of appeals is the proper forum 

for a defendant’s habeas petition alleging that 

trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a 
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notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief.  

The court’s decision will provide guidance to 

litigants and the courts, and resolve an important 

procedural issue. 

 

This court should not, however, reach the 

merits of Kyles’ particular claim because it is 

procedurally barred by his previous attempts to 

litigate it.  Regardless of whether Kyles’ should 

have filed a Knight petition or a circuit court 

habeas petition, Kyles has already pursued both 

remedies, and is barred from raising his 

ineffective assistance claim again. 

 

 If the State and the court of appeals are 

correct that the circuit court is the forum for Kyles 

to raise his claim, then he has already availed 

himself of his remedy.  Kyles filed a habeas 

petition in the circuit court and lost (Pet-Ap. M; 

N).  He appealed to the court of appeals, which 

affirmed (Pet-Ap. O).  This court denied his 

petition for review (Pet-Ap. P).  A matter raised in 

a prior proceeding “may not be relitigated in a 

subsequent postconviction proceeding no matter 

how artfully the defendant may rephrase the 

issue.”  State v. Witkowski, 163 Wis. 2d 985, 990, 

473 N.W.2d 512 (Ct. App. 1991). 

 

 Further, if Kyles is correct that a Knight 

petition is his remedy, then his current petition is 

barred because he has also already pursued one.  

A defendant may not file a second Knight petition 

without providing an adequate explanation why 

all issues were not raised in the first.  State ex rel. 

Schmidt v. Cooke, 180 Wis. 2d 187, 189-90, 

509 N.W.2d 96 (Ct. App. 1993).  
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 Kyles’ claim should also be considered 

barred because he did not petition this court for 

review when the court of appeals denied his 2003 

Knight petition.  Kyles believes that the court of 

appeals is wrong now and was wrong then to tell 

him to litigate his claim in the circuit court.  Kyles 

could have and should have made this argument 

in a petition for review from the court of appeals’ 

decision on his 2003 petition.  Smalley, which 

essentially provides the basis for Kyles’ claim that 

the court of appeals was wrong, was decided in 

1997, so this argument was available to him when 

the court of appeals denied his 2003 petition.  

Kyles’ failure to seek review in this court in his 

earlier case should bar his current claims. 

 

 This court should also conclude that Kyles’ 

current petition is procedurally barred because it 

alleges additional facts and is far more developed 

than his previous filings.  For example, Kyles’ 

original Knight petition and his circuit court 

habeas petition rely primarily on the November 

2002 letter Kyles claims he sent to Flanagan.  

Neither of these petitions alleges that Kyles 

specifically asked Flanagan in the letter to file the 

notice, something he now claims he did (Kyles’ 

Knight petition at 6; Pet-Ap. K:2; M:1).  

 

Further, Kyles did not previously allege that 

he made numerous telephone calls to Flanagan 

from prison, as he did in his most recent Knight 

petition and his 2008 extension motion (Kyles’ 

Knight petition at 6-7; Pet-Ap. V:1).  He also did 

not assert that he had his mother try to contact 

Flanagan, something he mentioned for the first 

time in this case (Kyles’ Knight petition at 6).  

Finally, Kyles’ earlier filings alleged that 

Flanagan told him his case had no merit, while his 
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current petition claims that Flanagan said there 

were “few non-frivolous issues based on his guilty 

plea” (Kyles’ Knight petition at 7; Pet-Ap. K:2; 

M:3).  Regardless of whether Kyles had to file in 

the circuit court or the court of appeals, he needed 

to allege all of the facts supporting his claim in his 

first petition in those courts.  His current petition 

raises the claim he raised previously, and the 

additional facts he alleges are nothing more than 

an artful rephrasing of that issue.  Witkowski, 

163 Wis. 2d at 990. 

 

 Kyles argues that his claim is not barred 

because Flanagan abandoned him (Kyles’ brief at 

20-23).  He contends that the State’s arguments 

might make sense had Kyles not been denied his 

right to counsel or a direct appeal, and maintains 

that the State cannot rely on his procedural 

missteps to bar his relitigation of this claim 

(Kyles’ brief at 21).  

 

 This court should reject this argument.  To 

say that Kyles’ underlying claim that Flanagan 

abandoned him by not filing a notice of intent is 

not procedurally barred because Flanagan 

abandoned him is a circular argument.  Further, 

there would be no reason for Kyles to be seeking 

reinstatement of his direct appeal had he had one 

with counsel.  Finally, under Kyles’ reasoning, 

because Flanagan did not file a notice of intent, he 

could continue to file an endless stream of 

requests to reinstate his appeal until he succeeds, 

regardless of his past attempts to litigate this 

claim.  

 

 Kyles also contends his claim is not barred 

because he was forced to rely on the assistance of 

other inmates to prepare his filings (Kyles’ brief at 
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21-22).5  Kyles never indicated until his most 

recent Knight petition that other inmates helped 

him with his filings (Kyles’ Knight petition at 7-

10; Pet-Ap. K; M; V).  And it appears that he never 

asserted that another inmate helped with his 

current Knight petition until he asked this court 

for review (Kyles’ petition for review at 11).  

 

In any event, a defendant’s pro se status 

does not allow him to make the same claim in 

multiple rounds of litigation.  Pro se defendants 

are subject to the same rules as counsel and must 

comply with the relevant procedural and 

substantive law.  Waushara County v. Graf, 

166  Wis. 2d 442, 452, 480 N.W.2d 16 (1992).  Most 

collateral challenges to criminal convictions are 

filed by pro se prisoners.  Excusing them from 

well-established procedural bars would permit 

endless litigation and allow this exception to 

swallow the rule. 

 

 Finally, Kyles argues that his claim is not 

barred because the court of appeals and the circuit 

court dismissed his previous habeas petitions 

without prejudice (Kyles’ brief at 23-24).  This is 

incorrect.  The court of appeals dismissed Kyles’ 

2003 Knight petition because he filed it in the 

wrong court.  This is a dismissal with prejudice. 

While it is true that the court of appeals’ order 

informed Kyles to file his challenge in the circuit 

                                         
5 Kyles also seeks to excuse his repeated filings 

because he reads at a sixth-grade level (Kyles’ brief at 21-

22).  The citations Kyles provides do not mention his 

reading ability (Kyles’ brief at 22, citing Kyles’ Knight 

petition at 17; Pet-Ap. E:3).  Further, there does not appear 

to be anything in the record that would substantiate Kyles’ 

assertion. 
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court, it did not contemplate that he would be free 

to file another Knight petition in the future.  

 

 Kyles is also wrong about the circuit court’s 

order.  Although the court indicated it would 

entertain a motion for reconsideration if Kyles 

could produce his November 2002 letter to 

Flanagan, Kyles did not take advantage of this 

opportunity and decided to appeal instead (Kyles’ 

brief at 23; Kyles’ Knight petition Pet-Ap. N:2; O).  

It makes no sense to say that Kyles’ ignored 

opportunity to prove his claim in circuit court 

somehow gives him another chance to raise it 

years later. 

 

III. KYLES’ PETITION IS SUFFI-

CIENT TO WARRANT AN 

EVIDENTIARY HEARING 

ON TWO OF HIS THREE 

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE 

CLAIMS. 

Finally, should this court determine that a 

Knight petition is the proper remedy for Kyles’ 

claims and that it is not procedurally barred, the 

State agrees with Kyles that he is entitled to an 

evidentiary hearing on his claims that Flanagan 

failed to file the notice of intent when asked to and 

was not reasonably available during the filing 

period.  Kyles’ petition alleges sufficient facts, 

which, if true, would show he is entitled to relief 

on these claims (Kyles’ brief at 14-18).  See State v. 

Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310-11, 548 N.W.2d 50 

(1996).   

 

 The State disagrees that Kyles is entitled to 

relief on his claim that Flanagan had a duty to file 

a motion for an extension of time to file the notice 
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of intent once Kyles informed him in January 2003 

that he wanted to appeal or that Flanagan should 

have told him an extension was a possibility 

(Kyles’ brief at 19).  Even assuming that Kyles 

told Flanagan this at their meeting, he should not 

get a hearing on this claim. 

 

 Initially, as argued, this claim is not 

properly before this court because Kyles did not 

raise it in his petition for review.  This court 

should thus decline to order a hearing on this 

issue. 

 

 Further, Kyles’ allegations in support of this 

claim in his petition were insufficient to show that 

Flanagan had a duty to file an extension motion or 

discuss one with Kyles, or that Flanagan violated 

that duty.  Kyles merely asserted that Flanagan 

should have known to ask for an extension, but 

never explained why that was so (Kyles’ Knight 

petition at 19).  Kyles did not establish why it 

should have been obvious to Flanagan that an 

extension motion was available to cure the missed 

deadline.  Without these allegations, no hearing is 

warranted. 

 

Kyles notes in his brief to this court that the 

court of appeals has a generally lenient policy 

about granting extensions to defendants to 

prosecute an appeal (Kyles’ brief at 19 (citing 

Evans, 273 Wis. 2d 192, ¶ 38)).  It is also true, as 

Evans and Kyles note, that motions for extensions 

of time are granted after the deadline has expired 

and Wis. Stat. 809.82(2) specifically permits this 

(Kyles’ brief at 19).  Evans, 273 Wis. 2d 192, ¶ 38. 

This would have been discoverable by Flanagan in 

2003.  See State v. Harris, 149 Wis. 2d 943, 945-

47, 440 N.W.2d 364 (1989) (stating that deadline 
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for filing notice of intent can be extended by court 

of appeals after it has expired).  But none of this 

was alleged in Kyles’ Knight petition.  

  

Further, Kyles’ petition failed to establish 

that a motion for an extension of time would have 

succeeded.  A showing of good cause is required to 

obtain an extension.  Wis. Stat. § 809.82(2).  

Neither Kyles’ petition nor his brief on appeal 

specifically  explains what this good cause would 

have been (Kyles’ Knight petition at 19; Kyles’ 

brief at 19).  It is not enough to say that the court 

of appeals’ policy was lenient or long established.  

Section 809.82(2) requires a showing of good cause 

for an extension, and Kyles has never said what 

this was given the facts of his case.  This court 

should deny him a hearing on this claim. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 Upon the foregoing, the State respectfully 

requests that this court affirm the decision of the 

court of appeals.  If this court determines that 

Kyles’ claims are not procedurally barred and 

were filed in the correct court, the State agrees 

that Kyles is entitled to a hearing on the first two 
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of his three ineffective assistance of counsel 

claims.